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I, INTRODUCTION

The nassacre of six nillion Eurcpean Jews is history's
rost horrendous crine, VEIZS.ECKiR's formidable figure in this
genocidal crine is recorded in the files of his Gerrnan Foreign
Office. The State Secretary and his associates have inseribed
in their own hand the records of their rmortal guilt, WEIZS..ECKZR!s
inscriptions will testify in the stead of the millions whon he

dispatched to the Zast and whosc tongues are silent,

Vhen in (pril 1943 VEIZS.LCKER, after five years as State
Secretary and partner in crine of ven Ribbentrop, left the Fereign
Office for a new nission in the namc of the Third Reich, the
annihilation progran, planned and launched and well under way,
was not as yet completed. There was still work to be done, His
successor, the newly appecinted State Sceretary Gustov ..dolf
STEENGR..CHT von LIOYLAFD, c~rried forward the established genocidal
progran until cbout six nillion Furopean Jews had been processed

for death in the joint diplonatic and police nachincry.

The trenendous responsibility of the Foreign Office in this
mns;ivc project for clearing Lebensraun in BEurope by climinating
the undesirables was net by VWEIZS.ECKER and STEENGR.L.CHT with the
loyal help of the Under State Secretary VOERILNN, Chief of the
Political Division until 1943; the defendant Ritter, who
coordinated the onnihilation progran with the nilitory; the
defendant Erdnennsdorff, who supervised the extermination for
each country in the Foreizn Office; and the defendent Veesennayer,
who was a field gencral for annihilation in Serbia, Slovakiz,

and especinlly in Hungory.

The annihilation of six nillion hurnnn beings was, of course,
a task which called for riony nen and nony telents, Essentinl
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contributicns were nade by other defendants in this case and the

execution nachinery of the Reichssicherheitshauptart (RSHA) which

worked so "faithfully" with the Foreign Office (Pros. Ex. 1455,

Doc. Bk. 59, p. 131).,

This tricl brief has two purposes:

1.

To present the blackbock of the war criizes and
crines against humanity concerning the persecution
of Jews, in which crimes the Foreign Office
defendants participateds The running account

of this genoecidal crime will be presentéd according
to the evidence introcuced in this case,

To bring into foeus the individual responsibility
of the defendnants WEIZS.ECKER, OZRILNN, and
STEENGR..CHT. Separate trinl bricfs on Count V
(Jewish Persccuticns) deal with the indivicual
responsibility of the defendants Ritter, Veesen-
neyer, Epdnonnsdorff, and Bohle, However, this
trial brief should also be regarded 2s an
intcgral part of and to be incorporated in the
trial briefs a;ainst such other defendants as are
nentioned herein,
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II, THE CHARGES UNDER COUNT V OF THE INDICTMENT
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The defendants WEIZSAECKER, STEENGRACHT, 'T/OERMANN, RITTER,
ERDMANNSDORFF, VEESENMAYIR, with divers other persons during the
period from llay 1938 to lay 1945, comnitted ‘/ar Crimes and Crimes
Against Humanity, as defined by Article II of Control Council Law
No. 10, in that they participated in atrocities and offenses in-
cluding rmurder, externination, enslavement, deportation, imprison—
nent, killing of hostages, torture, persecutions on political,
racial and religious grounds, and other inhumane and criminal
acts against German nationals and members of the civilian populations
of countries and territories under the belligerent occupation of,
or otherwise controlled by Germany, plunder of éublic and private
property, wanton destruction of citiés, towns and villages, and
devastation not justified by military necessity. The defendants
connitted iar Crimes and Crimes against Humenity, in that they
were principals in, accescories to, ordered, abetted, took a
consenting part in, werce comnected with plans and enterprises
involving, and were members of orgnnizations and groups coniected
with, the com:ission of llar Crimes end Crimes Against Hunanity.
(See Indictment agoinst ERNST VON VEIZGAECKER, et al, Count V,

paragraph 38, page 46).

In furtherance of the German Reich's program of "pacification!
of the occupicd territorics through terrorisn, the arrést, im-
prisonnent, deportation and rurder of so-called hostages was
effected. Jews, alleged Corrmnists, "asocials", and other
innocent menbers of the civilian popul~tion of the occupied countries
not comnected with any acts against the occupying power werc token
28 hostages and, without benefit of investigation or trial, were
sunnarily deported, hanged, or shot. These innocent victims were
executed or deported at arbitrarily established ratios for attacks
by person or persons unknown on Gernon installations and German
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personnel in the occupied territories, In many cases the re-
commendation and approvael of the German Foreign Office, with the
participation of the defendants VWEIZSAECKZR, STEINGRACHT, VOERILINN,
RITTER, LERDMANNSDORFF and other persons and their representatives,
was required prior to the exceccution of these measures and the
necessary diplomatic "cover up" was effected to conceal the nature

of thesc crimes. (Indictment pp. 49-50).

Simultancously with German aggressive expansion, the anti-
Jewish activities of the defendants were extended to the in-
corporated, occupied, and otherwise German dominated countries.
Deprivation of civil rights and expropriation of the property of
Austrian, Czechoslovakian, Polish and other nationals of Jewish
extraction, were initiated by the deferdants immediately after
the annexation or occupation of the country. The defendant
WEIZSAGLCKER participated in appropriating German Forcign Office

funds for pogroms in Lithuania,

These inhumane acts were followed by barbarous nass killings
¢f people of Jewish extraction and other forcign nationals in the

occupied territorics.

In May 1941 a final agreement esteblished special task forees,
"Einsatzgruppen", for the purpose of exterminating hundreds of
thousands of men, women, and children of Jewish extraction, and
other groups of the civilian populations regorded as racially
"inferior" or "politically undesirable", Through the execution
of this program, the eastcrn terr}tories werc to be vacated of
all people viewed as dangcrous to plans for German' hegomony in
the East. The progress rcports on these killings, regularly sub-~
nitted to the German Forcign Office by the RSHA and Gernman Foreign
Office ficld representatives, were brought to the attention of the
defendants, WEIZS ECKER, VOZRILNN, and ERDILNNSDORFF to assist in
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the shaping of political policies for the disposition of occupied

territories.

A progron for the extermination of 2ll surviving European
Jews was set up by the defendants in the winter of 1941 and 1942

and organized and systematically carried out 2nring the following

period, During inter-departmental conferences on the "Final Solution

of the Jewish Question", which took place in Berlin on 20 January
1942, 6 March 1942, ond 27 October 1942, the policy and techniques
for the "Final Solution of the Jewish Question" were established.
The policy meking session of 20 January 1942 included the state
secretaries or representatives of the ministries and agencics con-
cerned. The German Forcign Office was represcnted by Under State
Secretary Luther, who reported the results of the conference to
his Secrctary of State, the defendont MEIZS.ECKER, irmmediatcly
after the confercnce., In the two other confercnces, the details
were arranged. They were attended by the rcepresentatives of the
departnents of which the defendants were policy mckers or leading

officials,

The previous progran for driving out the Jews as pauper
emigres was now supplanted by a program for the evacuation of
eleven nillion European Jews to camps in Eastern Hurope for
ultimate extermination. They were to be tronsported to these
arcas in huge labor gangs, and there the weak were to be killed
irmediately, and the able-bodied worked to death. Closcst
cooperation between the departments of which the defendants were
leading officinls wes provided, with the RSHA in charge of the

actual operations,

In the exccution of this progean nillions of people of Jewish
extraction from Austria, Czechoslovakia, Poland, France, Belgium,

the Netherlands, Denmark, Norway, Hungary, Bulgaria, Yugoslavia,
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Roumania, the Baltic States, the Soviet Union, Grecce, Italy,

and also from Germeny werc deported to the Eastern externination
areas and nurdered according to inter-departrental plan. Since
by’far the greater part of the victins of this genocidal progran
werc nationals of puppct ond satellitc countries dominated by

the Third Reich, the German Foreign Office through the defcndants
WEIZS..ECKER, STEENGR..CHT, V/OHRML.NN, RITTER, ERDi ZiNNSDORFF, VEESEN-
IL.YER, and others forced thesc governments to deport persons of
Jewish extraction within their countries to German extermination
canps in the East and dirccted and oontrolled the exccution of

these ncasures. (Indictment, pp. 51~54).

VIOL.TION OF Ll

The acts and conduct of the defendants set forth in Count V
werc corriitted unléwfully, wilfully, and knowingly, and constitute
violations of international conventions, including the Hague
Regulations, 1907, and the Prisoner of lar Convention, Geneva,
1929; of the laws and customs of war; of the general principles
of criminal law, as derived from the crininal laws of civilized
nations; of the intgrnal penal laws of the countrics in which such
crimes werce cormitted; and of .rticle II of Control Council Law

No, 10,
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In it's chepter on the persecution of Jews, the INMT stated:

"Part of the !'final solution! was the gathering
of Jews fron all Gerran-occupied Europe in con—
centration conps,..2ll who were fit to work were
used as slave laborers in the concentration
canps; 2ll who were not fit to work were
destroyed in gas charibers and their bodies
burnt." (Volure I, page 251)

"Gernan rissions were sent to such satellite
countries as Hungary and Bulgoria, to arrange

for the shiprnient of Jews to extermination canps
end it is known that by the end of 1944, 400,000
Jews fror Hungary had been rurdered ot Juschwitz."

(Volune I, page 252)
The IMT held, referring to the persecution of Jews:

n,..fron the beginning of the war in 1939 War
Crines were cormiitted on a vast scale, which
were 2lso Crines a2gainst Hunmanity; and in so
far as the inhunone acts charged in the In-
dictiient, ond comnitted after the beginning

of the war, did not constitute Var Crimes,

they were a2ll couiitted in execution of, or

in connection with, the agressive war, and
therefore constituted Crimes agninst Humanity."
(Volune I, page 25.4)

In the Trial against liajor VWar Criminels, the defendant
alfred Rosenberg, Minister of the Occupied Fastern Territories
was found guilty of the persecution of Jews and sertenced to death
by henging, The IIT stated,
"His subordinates engaged in mass killings of
Jews, and his civil adninistrators in the East
considered that cleansing the Eastern Occupied
Territories of Jews was necessary." (Volure I,
pege 295)
The defendont Hans Fronk, Governor General of Occupied Poland,
was found guilty by the IMT of the perseccution of Jews and sentenced
to death by heonging, ' The IMT stated:

"The persccution of the Jews was irmediately
begun in the Generzl Government" (Volure I,

page 297)
-7 -
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The defendant Wilheln Frick was found guilty of the persccution

of Jews and sentenced to death by hanging. The IMT stated,

"fhile he wa: Reich Protector of Bohenia

and Moravin, thousands of Jews were trans—
ferred fron the Terezin Ghetto in Czechoslovakia
to .wuschwitz, where they were killed."

(Volume I, page 300).

The defendant Seyss-Inquart was found guilty of the persecution

of Jews and sentenced to death by hanging. The IIT stated:

"One of Seyss-Inquart'!'s first steps as Reich
Corriissioner of the Netherlands was to put into
effect o series of laws imposing econonic

~ discrinmination against the Jews. This was followed
by decreces requiring their registration, decrees
corpelling then to reside in ghettos and to wear
the Star of David, sporadic arrests and detention
in concentration cenps, and finally, at the
suggestion” of Heydrich, the nnss deportation of
alnost 120,000 of Holland!s 140,000 Jews to
uschwitz and the !'final solution'!. Scyss-
Inquart adnits knowing that they were going to
auschwitz, but clains that he heard fron people
who had been to .iuschwitz that the Jews were
corparatively well off there, and that he thought
that they were being held therce for resettlement
after the war, In light of the evidence and on
account of his official position it is impossible
to believe this clain." (Volume I, page 329)

The IMT defendants Rosenberg, Frank, Frick and Seyss-Inquart
as far as the persecution of Jews is concerned were only charged
with participation in the persccutions concerning the geographical
arcas where they represented Gernany. The defendant Julius
Streicher, publisher of "Der Stuerner",an anti-Jewish propagandist,
was found guilty by the IUT of the perscuution of Jews and
sentenced to death by hanging. The IMT stated:

n.s the wor in the early stages proved successful
in acquiring nore and nore territory for the
Reich, Streicher even intensified his cfforts to
incite the Gernans against the Jews, In the
reeord are 26 articles from Der Stuermer, pub-
lished between .ugust 1941 and Septenber 1944,

12 by Streicher's own hand, which denended anni-
hilation and externination in unequivocal terns,

He wrote and published on 25 December 1941:

1If the danger of the reproduction of
that curse of God in the Jewish blood
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is finally come to an cnd, then there
is only onc way ~- the externination of
that people whose father is the devil,!

t;nd in February 1944 his own article stated:

flhoever does whnt a Jew does is a scoundrel,
a crininal. 4nd he who repeats and wishes
to copy hin deserves the sane fate, anni-
hilation, death,!

"M{ith knowledge of the extermination of the Jews

in the Occupied Eastern Territory, this defendant
continued to write and publish his propaganda of
death, Testifying in this trial, he vehemently
makes it clear that he continually received current
inform~tion on the progress of the 'final solutiont.
His press photographer was sent to visit the ghettos
of the Tast in the spring of 1943, the tine of
destruction of the Varsaw ghetto. The Jewish news~
paper, YIsraelitisches Wochenblatt!, which
Streicher reccived and read, carried in each issue
accounts of Jewish atrocities in the East, and

gave figures on the number of Jews who had been
deported and killed..." (Volume I, pnge 303)

This shows clearly thet the defendant Streicher was only con-
victed for his anti-Jewish propaganda activities. He hinself had
nothing to do with the actual planning, implenentotion, and

organizing of the "final solution",

The defendant von Ribbentrop wa: found guilty of the per-
secution of Jews and sentenced to death by hanging. The IMT

stated:

"He pleyed an important part in Hitler's !'final
solution! of the Jewish question. In $eptenber
1942 he ordercd the Germen diplomatic representatives
acercdited to various .ixis satellites to hasten
the depertation of Jews to the Zast. In June
1942 the Gernen .nbassador to Vichy requested
Laval to turn over 50,000 Jews for deportation
to the Cast. On 25 February 1943 von Ribbentrop
protested to Mussolini agninst Italien slowness
in deporting Jews fron the Italian occupation
zone of Francc..." (Volune I, page 287)

In this brief we shall show that his stete sccretaries,
and his deputies, von WEIZS.ECKER from 1938 to March 1943 and
his successor von STEENGR.CHT, from .pril 1943 until the end of

the war, together with the under secretary WOERIL.NN, chief of the

g



V!

Political Division from 1938 to 1943, were the diplonatic
technocrats who solved the Jewish problem finally through the

genocidel rmrder of five to six million European Jews,
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The results of the Lplenentation of the Final Solution by
the defendants UEIZS“ECKER, “CERILNN, STEENGR..CHT and others
(euyhmaistic:lly called by UEIZS.ICKZR "Docurients which...in
normel tines I would have hesitated to touch with :y own hands")
are described in the findings of the LT (Volwie I, pajc 251)
with the following words:

"Poart of the !finsl solutiont was the gathering
of Jews fron all Gernan-occupied Burope in con~
centration camps. Their physical condition was
the test of lifc or death, 1l who were fit to
work were used os slave laborers in the con—~
centration camps; 211 who were not fit to work
were destroyed in gas chanbers and their bodics
burnt, Certain concentration canps such as
Treblinka and uschwitz werc set aside for this
main purpose., 'lith regord to Juschwitz, the
Tribunal heard the evidence of HBss, the
corviandent of the cap from 1 Hay 1940 to 1
Decerber 1943, He estimated that in the camp
of Luschwitz a2lone in that tine 2,500,000 persons
werc externinated, and that o further 500,000
died fron discasc and starvation.,,"

The resultant deaths were found by the IiIT Judgiient to
total "six :1illion Jews, of which four rillion werc killed in

the externination institutionst (Volune I, page 253),

In this proceedings the witnesses Jeannctte +olff, Berlin
Counselwonan, and Dr. Philip luerbach, Bavarian State Corriissioner,
gave a vivid picture of the various aspeets of the annihilation
progran, such as the rounding up of the Jews fronm a1l over Lurope,
the working of then to death in connection with .rraent production,
the shooting and grssing of those unfit to work, and all
survivors and the relationship between the exccution of the

annihilation and the central pPlanning agencies in Berlin,

The transcript of the testinony of the witnesses 1/olff and

wuerbach reads as follows:
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A, \itness Jecnette Wolff

DIRECT EX.IIN.TION

BY DR. KELPNER:

"hat is your nane, please?

n"Jeanette Jolff.

"How old are you now?

L vﬁ.ll be sixty on ny next birthday.
Mhere were you born?

"Tn Bocholt, in :festphalia.

"here are you living now?

"In Berlin, Neukoelln, Jenasstrasse 50.
"Tn what scctor of Berlin is that?

"In the United States Sector.

n°t the norient you are City Councillor in Berlin,
is that corrcet?

"Yes.,
u.re you norried?

"y husband has not been heard of since
Buchenwald,

IHave you any children?

"T had.

"How nany children?

0Threc of ry. own and onc adopted child,

" hat happencd to then?

My oldest child was sent to the externinetion
carp Stutthof, and was shot there, the beginning
of 1945, My second daughter survived. I found
her again, but her heart and ncrves arc corpletely
done for. liy third daughter, Kaethe, was arrested
as carly as 1939, taken into protective custody,
and deported fron Ravensbrucck. I ncver saw her
again.

(S

"In what ye~r was that?

1.t the end of 1943 shc was deported. I lecarned
thet from a survivor of Ravensbrueck, liy youngest
child was onec adobted by ne.
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"hat happened to the youngest? How old was she?

"Three and 2 quarter. She was an adopted child.
The nother had becorie nentally sick because of
the cvents; the father ped Reen shot by the Nazis,
lellerskirch. In 4943, og the second of Nov-
er 1ber, the child togcifler with about two thousand
other children from all the Jewish camps of Riga ~
was packed into open trucks, at a degree of cold
of forty-two degrees. e never heurd anything
of these children again.

"Did any other rembers of yvour fanily perish
after 19392

"y husbond in Buchenweld; ry brother and his
wife, onc deughter, two sons-in-law, and three
grandchildren, in ..uschwitz.

Miere you jyoursclf —-

"Ninc counsins, onc unclc, aunts - twenty-four
altogether, cpert from ny own inmmediste fanily.

Micre yov yourself in a canp?

"Yes, in severcl canps.

Micre yown in canps in the occupied territories?
"Yes, in Latvia,

"In what ycar was that?

"t the begiming of 1942, we arrived therec,
Mhere did you arrive? In what country?
"Letvia,

"ho occupied it at the tine?

"The Gernans.,

"In what other ceip werc you, Frau 'Jolff?

"In the subsidiary canp of Keiserwald, near Riia,
in Iuehlgreben,

M/ill you tecll us about your deportation?

"Yes. I think it was on the twenticth of Deccrber
1941, that we got o lctter which said, 'You and
your fanily! — thu was, it was J.ntu,ndcd to toke
cfiect the beginning of January — 'have to be

2t the Boersenhalle in Dortrund'!'. I and onc
thousand three hundred and fifty Jews from the
Dortimund area were deported.

iere you told for wirt purpose you were to
present yoursclves?

"Yes, for labor allocation in the east. liy husband
Joined ne fron prison, He cane fron Sachsenhausen.
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" (continucd)

He had been scnt there in 1938 after the big Jewish
pogrons. He hed becn taken away and later on he was
put in prison.once agein and they allowed hin to be
deported with ne, 1y daughter fron Ravensbrueck
was not allowed to join us.,

"In order to clcar that up, you had received orders
to report to go to the cast for labor allocation?

"YcSe

MJere therc only German Jews or were therc Jews

who originnlly had comc from Poland ~nd other countries?

"The transport with which I went, consisted of Jcws
who 1lived in Gerany but thesce included Poless
Later, we niet Jews from Latvia, fron Poland, fron
Hungary, fron Czochoslovakia, and fron Biclo~
Russia, in the labor squads.

"So you werc sent to the occupied territory, if I
understood you correctly, werenlt you?

Y¢S,

1T sec thot you arc rather upsct about these
terrible cvents. Pleasc answer 1y questions very
slowly ond listen very carcfully, won!t you? So
you werc scent there. lhere was that?

"To Riga.
NTo Riga, in occupied territcry, is that right?

"Yese

"ians there o camip therc or what was there? Please
tcll us on onc scntence, quitc bricfly,

NThere was a block of houses surrounded by a high
barbed-wire fonce. That was the so-colled Riga
Jewish Ghottos

"jerc there Hrisoners of all nationalitics fron
occupicd tor.itorics there?

"There werc threc ghetti which werc not separated
in point of space, but which werc scpa oted by
barbed-wirc.

" bout how neny pcople werc there?

"In our canp, in the beginning, about twenty
thousand. In the onc opposite, therc were only
nen, Polcs and Latvinns whose wives had becn
rurderced. There were perhaps five thousand. .nd
in the third block, that w:s the wonen's conp of
surviving Polish wives fron lilne and Latvia,
worien from Liban and Rign, therc werc about two
hundred of thei.

o



Q. "Did people core fron Hun: ory?

as MLoter on.

%« "In what yeor?

ive ".bout the niddle of 194k,

n. "Did people cone fron Poland?

e "Yus; carlicr,

Q. NEarlior?

hs Wose

Q. "Jews fron France?

4e "I cAnlt say beenuse the Stutthof Co:rp was not our
canps, Therc were sixty-nine thousand innates and as
the blocks were scparated by barbed-wire it was
inpossible to talk, to ret in touch with another

block without ;ctting beatcen up for ite

Q. "So you know about the Polos and Hun ~rians end
Latvians and Ger:aans?

Jve Yes,

Q. "and Czechs?

iae "Yes,

Q. "Is that corrcet?

de MY CB

Q. "You yoursclf did not sec¢ any Frenchren?

as "NOo

Q. "1l right, if you didn't scc it, let!s leave it,

A. "Oh, yes, I saw thon, pehind borbed-wire, but I
didn't speak to thena

0. "But then you don't know whether they were rcally
French,

A. "I was told that,

Q. "Did you work therc?

4Ls "Yes, like chryboay.

Qe "For whon did you work?

- fy "Fromltho chetto in Riga, meinly in Wehrnaocht units.

Q. "What did you do for the Wohrnacht?

ie "I nyself wes o uniforn toilor,

-~ 15 =
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mhat did the others do?

whey made vniforns, bocts, fur coats, leather-
ware, all things for the L.ehrinecht ~— portly re-—
pairs and sertly newly ncde.

npid you maole amaunition?

"] was never in such 2 detachilent, bt i was told
that in the trocp econony Cip (Tru,h,pcn’.-:irtschaft—
ager) things of this kind were being 2ades 1
ennot scy. I did not see it nysclf,

mjere squads sent out to the airport and to the
s R o C
whorfs?

‘WYes, to the cirport in Riga. New airfields werc

being built, That was the punitive camp of Spilve,
wherc people were beoten up atrociocusly. In
sdcition therc weu a big repair camp ‘for rotor
cars, tonks, and other engines, 14 1 think, for

a fonent? It was colled 'HKP!. That ncans liotew
Pools

1 rey notor pool?
"Yes, that is right,

nBut surely that is not so bad, if you nade unifcerns
anc worked as uniforn tailor, as a Wohdll. a lot of
worien worlk like that.

1That would not have becn so dad if the anount of
work wie were supposed to do had not been so
irpossibly high, if the conditions of life hadn't
been so unbearadly pad. The food was not sufficient
to per:it a person to remain 2live even if he was
not wWorking,

nIf you couldn't do the work you were supposed to
do, what ha> ened then?

HThose wiio couldn't uork viere considercc &8 being
as good o8 liquidated, and that is why everylody
tried to work until he collapsed.

What do you iean br !liquidated!?
NThere werc' carps which can only be described as
death caiips, from which drives were constantly
going into eflect, neople collected anc sent on

. Sy o 5\
so-called fascension! squads (Hinmelfahrtskoryiandos) .
mfnat do you :ieen !'ascension!?
"If the purpose of a squad wa. obscure and it held
cld and feeble seople, then we knew thot the people
wouldn!t coime back.

N’ere there so-called !childrents drives! too?

Yes,
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Mhat were they?

"In 1943, on the second of Novenbver, in the
noming, very early, we heard that all children
under ten, rust be sent to the Blech Platz,

which was a square where the first executions

and also the drives were carried on, and where
roll was called., The area is drenched only with
Jewish blood, on a gigantie scale, The children
had to be taken to this squere. It was very cold,
It was between thirty-ecight and forty degrees.
The children were packed into open trucks, They
were given three days! food — that is, imitation
coffee and dry bread. The children -- we never
sow any of then agmin. There werc nore children
drives. This was the last, We were in the
Muehlgraben Canp,

We had becn able to hide fourteen children in the
ghetto in the course of the drive and in other
canps too sonie children had becn hidden, 1fe were
glad if the children ever laughed, bceause our

life was so heavy, Our fanilies torn apart. They
were cruel. They deported us to the East so that
we should work together, and took our husbands away,
They sent then to the stonc querries. They sent
theix to their death in Salispils.

nTell us, of the conditions under which you worked
there, I would like to know the following: Did
you have any definite kind of clothing or definite
style of hairdress, or anything of the kind?

"I the beginning, as long as we werc in the Riga
Ghetto, we kept and wore our civilien clothing.

"Ho.. did you do your hair?

"Tn 1943, they shaved our heads with an Orn
nechine,

Mihat hoppened to the hair?

"The hair had to be collected., Nothing was to
be lost., It was packed in sacks and worked into
ropes allegedly for the Zeppelins.

"Ts that 21l1?

"No, that is not 211, The childrents drives cone
later, Not a single child was allowed to survive.
There were drives during work which were crucl,

Miere people beaten?

"Yes. On Black Sunday in lMuehlgraben, people were
used to carry wood. All punishient was ecarried out
by some inhurance work, if it was not shooting or
hanging, In this case, two people had to carry;

in the boiling sun —— I think at the end of May,

it was terribly hot, — they had to carry up to

S



A. (continued)
onc ond ~ half hundreweight of wood between then,
on a stretcher, and the canp cormandent and two
Viehrrnacht NCO's beat these nen with lashes and
drove then right across the canp courtyard until
they collapsed.
.nong the people therc was one very beautiful
young worien, Kathe Ehrlich fron Vienna, a Cacch
netional, but she had been deported to us fron
Vienna. The comnmandant and the NCO Schwellenbach
beat her so long until she lay blecding on the
ground, Onec of the pcople got a grave injury
to the lung and died of it.

In this conp there were only Wehrnacht neople;
no SS.

DR. KELPNER:

WThat is o1l we want to hear for todey. Thank
you for coming,

PRESIDING JUDGE IL.GUIRE:

¥ Is therc any cross excitination? There being no
cross exaninction, the witness is now excuseds

DR. KiliPNER:
mrith the Court!s perriission, the prosccution is
now calling the other witness we have this riorning,

Mr. .uerbacheee”

(Trenscript, pages 2500~2508)

—— —— — — — —— — — —

_DIRECT EX.MIN.TION

BY LiR. KEIPNER:

Qe "".v-ihat is your none, please?

ae Muerbach,

Qs "Your first nane?

A. "Philip,

Q, Mihat is your age, plcase?

Li. "Forty-onc ycars of age.

Q. "And rovr present address?

4o Mfunich, Friedrich Herschelstrasse 3.

Q. "ind what were you by profession originally?

L
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"I an a chenist,
t.ind what is your present profession or occupation?

"I an a governmental cormissiencr for racinlly and
religiously persecuted pcople in Bavario,

"jhat is your rank in the civil service in Bavaria?

"T an in charge of the Governiaental department, in
the rank of an Under Secretory of Stotc,

"Do you have any other position in the Vestern
zone, in the .merican zone?

"Yes, I on president of the Israelitic Cormmnity
in Bavarie in an honorary position.

"Mr. State Cornissioner, you were in Belgiun in
about 1939 and 1940, is this correcet?

"T was in Belgiun fron 1934 as a refugec,

"In 1939 and 1940, too? In 1939 before thc war
star@ed?

"Yes, I renained in Belgium in 1939 until 10 ley
1940 when the Germnnn .y invaded the country,

"ind then you went to Fronce, is that correct?

"Yes, quite,

nnd when the Germoans were overrunning Belgiun

and France, what happened to you in Fronce? Did

you renaain there?

"No. The Gestapo transferred me to Berlin via
Paris,

"To what place in Berlin?

"I uas first in Prinz .lbrochtstrassc. Prinz
-1lbrechtstrasse is the hecadquarters of the Gestapo,
the Sceret Stotc Police, and the RSHii.

"How long were you there?

"Fron there I was taken to the police headquarters
in Berlin wherc I was arrested for about two years,

Mhat kind of people did you scc there?

"Jews and forcigners werce treated particularly
badly and were kept in the so-called !'Gewahrsant,
They werc token into a speeinl prison in the
ccllar, whereas Gerii.ns renained upstairs in the
cclls on the sceond floor.

"You talk of foreigners. That kind of foreizners
were they?

- 15 -
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nThey were from 21l nations, those countrics
which Germeny had occupied, Dutch, Belgions,
French, sorc British., They werc nainly people
vwho had becn deported by force to Germeny in
order to work there, and who dgsopding to
certain denunciations to the Gestapo, were not
doing their full quote of werk and had becn
arrcsted and remeined there for o few days until
they werc deported to o concentration caip or
labor canp. Most of thesc trensfers went to

the cerps in Vuhlheide or Buchenwnld, or Oranien—
burg, Gross-Rosen and lauthauscn,

"Did any nistreatnent toke place there?

miell, comparatively little in the police prison,
but quite sufficiently when the Gestapo interrogated
you., I con tell you quite o fow things about that.

"Wewe the foreigners mistreated, too?

Miostly in the norning when the Gestapo officials
turned up and fotched people for interrogation
they were beaten at once,

"Now in 1943 you werc sent to ..uschwitz fron
Berlin, is that corrcet?

"Yes, Yes, I was teken to guschwitz in o special
transport, not with a nass transport.

Miere you told why?

nT was told originnlly that I was to do sone work
there, but when I was passing through Beuthen,
the police prison there, I was told, ~ !You are
going there to the oven.! That opinion was
generally held.

"hot do you mean by 'oven! (Karin)?
"The tern 'oven! usually rcont the four big

ercrintorics in Luschwitz wherc an average of five
thousand people werc burned or crenated deily,

"You heard the teri foven! in Beuthen, did you?

"Ycs,

Mhat sort of people said that? llas that temm
toven! uscd cquite froquently?

"Yes, the people from the police used the tera,
Vhen they received us and save us our passes for
the transport, it said on that pass: 1Sentenced

to death for hich treason!, and so the people said,
IYou won't live very longe You arc going to be
sent to the ovens!

nJust » nmorent. Tias this discussed quite openly?
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"Yes, quitc openly anong everybody, quite as
openly as they did in Berlin.

nIn Berlin at police headquarters was that rientioned
also? 'hat year wns that?

"That storted as early as 1941,

".ind then you went to suschwitz, didn't you?

UYes,

"Until when?

Mintil the corp was evacunted, on 18 January 1945.
"Can you prove in any way that you were in Jjuschwitz?

"] have exccllent proof which I would like to show
the Tribunzl, The number on ny arn here.

"hat number is it? Do you know it by heart?
11868869, That was the number which I was given as

o political prisoner, and I wes relatively heppy
with thot fact,

"jell, I don't follow you. You were happy thot a
nunber was burned on your am?

"Yes,

W hy?

"Beeause those who were not given a nuaber went
unidentificed to the gas chanber. They werc not
registered and their nanes were forgotten. They
were sinply gassed and thrown into the oven.

Mjas that connected with the fact that you were
stronger, could do some work, and were o chemist?

"Yos, I wes innediantely allocated to sone work,
I worked in the stone quarry for two days and
siinshed the eap of ny knece. I then walked on
crutches and was token to the so-cnlled depart-
nent for combating vermin, which was in the
charge of Obersturmbannfuchrer Pfloun, lle wero
to coubat inseccts, rats, nice, cte,

"Did you in that position as a cheaist, have a
special oppertunity to et ~round in Juschwitz conp?

"Yes, I was also the first disinfecting officinl,

I had to do specinl delousing and rat cxternination
actions, and I, thercfore, had a pass which gobt e
out of the ~ctual nents conp and into the women's
carp s well, I ney say what I saw there was the
nost frightful thing I ever saw,
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nJust o norent. e will discuss that later. ihat
stionalitics were represented in juschwitz?

tuschwitz was mainly an extermination conp for
Jows of all countries, nationalities.

Mhat nationalities?

tThere were relatively few Gernens there. They
were nostly Poles; large tronsports caie in fron

Hungary.
hen?

IThe Hung-rion tronsports did not arrive until

the cend of 1943 or the beginning of 1944. Before
that large transports cane in fron Greece. I
think about fifty thousond Jews cane from Grecce
to ,uschwitz fron anong whon less thon cne hundred
survived. Tronsports cone in from Frence, fron

Belgiun, fron Holland and 21l those countries

where the Gernan hoot was plaented.

"Tell ne, when these poeple arrived they were
selected and put into groups.

"ot ne describe bricfly how these transports
were handled. You rust differentiate between
individusl transportg such as ninc, where we
were only three people from Berlin, and the mess
transports which arrived on speciel trains every
day. The Troins arrived in Birkenau, They were
received ot the station in Birkenau by the canp
cormandant and o large nunber of higher SS
officers; I/hen these people who had traveled
for days, or in sorie cases weeks, in overcrowded
cattlc wagons, descended fron their trains ——
there were several dead persons in every wagon -
they were asked,

Hithich of you cannot work? Those of you
whe. ennnot wolk ean be driven to the conp.! People
who were not awarc of what that reant, voluntecred
and asked to be driven to the canp., They were then
put on the left sice, which neant death. The
others hnd to leave their luggoge behind, I saw
with ny own eyes, when Oberscharfuchrer Sinon 1oll
took little children by the legs and smashed their
heads agninst the walls of the stotion. That
happened in .uschwitz in 1944. I sow with 1y own
eyes how these people were thrown like dattle on
a truck and token imnedictely to the crematoriunm.
They were told they were going to have a bath,
The bath was the gas chamber, Then they entercd,
they had to strip and with typical Gerion thorough~
ness they had to sort out their clothes so that
the SS had no nore work when these things werc sent
on to VOIMI,

"To what agency?
"To VOIL.
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"ot is VOMI?

"Thot wos a National Socinlist orgenization, which
could use clothes for nen, wonen and children.,

"If these ncople had any valuables with then —
or did anything clse happen to the corpses?

"The valuables rerained in the clothes or had to

be deposited on tables first, BEverything was then-
nicely sortcd out, WHalls were hermeticelly séaled,
and instead of water, gas cane in, cyeclon gas. Two
ninutes later the gas chombers were full of COrpsSes.

Mihat was done with the corpses?

".fter the gas had evaporated, a detachnent of
innates cane in who had orders to extract the gold
from the teeth in the necuths of the corpses. You
could see fron the records in .iuschwitz, which I
sew riyself, that in the course of four years
thirty-threc thousand kilos of zold from teeth and
rings were sent to the Reichsbenk,

"How do you know that it was sent to the Reichshank?

"Corades of rminc, who worked in that departient,
told ne this acuthenticolly,

"Did the Reichsbank and the Reich liinistry of Finance
scnt in any accounts which you yoursclf saw in the
cffices?

'T worked in Cbersturnbannfuchrer Pflawits office,
ard there we sow the bills which were sent for
dcliveries of insecticide to the Wehrnacht and

the VOMI and other orgenizotions, always through-
RSHL, to Berlin to the Reich kinistry of Finance,

and there things were financially adjusted in sorie
nenner.

"When, 2s far as you can remerber, did the first
hoxss with gold toeth and sinilar objects go off
to the Reichsbank?

‘411 T can tell this Court is, of course, what I
know nvsa f. By the end of 1944 I henrd nbout that
in luschwitz for the first time. I sheuld assune
that it hoppened before, but I couldnit westify to
that from nmy own observation.

"Those wao were capable of worls, who werce not
killed imnediately, for whon did they work there?

"le had 2 large industry in ,juschwitz. .Luschwitz
itsclf consisted of a nurber of caps, In Bune.,
which was ncar the city of ..uschwitz s the inmnte

city, I mcan, work wes done exclusively for Farben,
and there, as the nane 'Buna! implies, artificia
rubber was produced, Then the Geman Rearmarcnt
works werc there, They also worked for the llchriacht.
Then there was what we called the 'Union! there,
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"that was the !'Unioni?

"The 'Union! was ~n SS enterprise which produced
exclusively ammniticn for the lehriocht s and there
quite indiscrininatcly the slaves were put to work 3
whether they were Gerrans or foreigners, and there
they produced the cartridge cases,

"Did the people go back to the camp from these
places of work, or what happened?

"n order come out in the nmorning at four ofclock

to get w and 2t five olclock we would march, “jork
we.s done until the evening at six o!clock, and

those who were still alive canme back with the colwms.
The dead were carried behind,

Mhat do you nmean: Ithe dead were chrried behind!?

"It happened very often thot the man in charge of

the camp asked in the norning how weny Jews were

in the detachrent and said in the evening he wanted

te see one hundred or two hundred less, Then these
people were shot while trying to escape or externinated
scne obher w2y, but in order for the roll call to

be correct, the dead had to be brought back agnaine

iThore is one thing I don't quite understand, and
perhaps you con cler that uy for the Tribunal,
actualiy there wns every renson to belicve that
peonle werc very nuch interested in the fact that
fercigners should work for the Wehrniacht., llhy were
they being killed?

"7ell, thoere was no shortoge of slaves. New trains
cine in daily; and s the croratoriun always worked
on the double, it did not motter -whethor o fow
huadred were being killed or not s becouse the pur—~
Posc of juschwitz crnp was externination. Four
nillion eight hundrod thousand dead was the price
of juschwitz carp,

"W,s it a sovt of seclective procedure that only-the
1108y efficieat people, experts, werc to survive, do
you think?

"Yos. Well, theré wes what we called Tscloction!
every Jour wecks,

Mihat wos !'sclection!?

'Selectioni meant thot peonle were being sorted
out according to their capacity of work, according
to their health, e%c.; and it was highly doubbful
according to what principles the seleetion vas nade,

"How was 1t done?

"in order was riven in the cvening ~t eleven o!clock
thet 211 Jews were to assemble in the strect completely
raked, even if it wes five or 4en degrees below zcro,
Fron there they had to go to the bathing place whore

Sl
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a few norc or less drunken SS nen were sitting
around and they indicated by s stick either
tleft! or 'right!, 'Left! neant the ovenj; 'right!
neant work, Those selected for the oven, they
were put on & truck naked as they were, and scnt
to the gos chambers, where the next niorning the
gessing and crenating octurred.

"The gassing was done with what?
1Tt was done with cyclon gas,
Mihich was supplied by whon?

"By 1.G. Farben,

BDid you sec that yourself?

"T did, indeed. .8 chenist I had cccasion in ny -
own denartrient to handle gas coming into the canp,
as we had to disinfect certain rooms infested by
bedbugs. One doy a Obersturnfuchrer cane to see

ne and asked ne to give hin two quentities of gas
for the crematoriun, because the delivery fron
Bitterfeld, the I. G, Farben plant, had not arrived
yet, I told him that I had two bottles which I
needed to destroy bedbugs and therefore I couldn't
give it tc hin, whereupon he gave ne 25 lashes,

"There is one thing I don't understand. Perhaps

you can oxplein it. If it wes desired to work people
to death, why was it necessary to have you around

to disinfect rooms and kill rats, ete.?

MJcll, the reason is quite simple. Rats did not
discrininate between innates and SS nen, and as
corpses werc lying around where rats nibbled at
then, there was every danger that the poison
omenating from the corpses would re~ch the store-
roonis of the SS. 1le also had to be carcful less
epidenics would break out. They needed slave labor.
ofter 211 therc were riore than one hundred eighty
thousand nen working in the .uschwitz area,opart
fron those working in the riines near ..us chwitz,

Mhat groups were particularly badly treated, as
for as you sow with your own eyes?

"The Poles and the Jews,

Wihat hap_cned to the Hungorion and French wonen?
"Treatiient. of the women was a problen of its own,
Mould you please tell us scniething about that?

"T think.T am onc of the few survivors of .uschwitz
whe ever entered the wonien!s conp, sinply beceuse I
was deing this disinfecting work. It was the nost
frightful thing I have ever scen, Thase wonen,

particularly the Hungerien wonen, were stripped before
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(continued)

the SS men., They had to pile up their clothes at
o certain spot: and hand over their veluables. Then
they were usually shaven by inmates who were
professional crininals, and SS nen would laugh at.
these shivering, noked wonen., The picture I saw
was indescribable,

"ell, then you left .uschwitz, How did that cone
about?

"l/hen the Russions advenced, an order was given that
the .uschwitz canp wes to be evacusteds This trons—
port started on 16 Jonuary 1945. liy detachnent was
the insccticide squad, and it hod neanwhile also
been assigned to work the soap plant,

Nihat sort of factory was that?

"fJle had been given orders to produce soap for the

Fuchre:x !'s headquarters, for ..dolf Hitler perscnally,
and this was 2 special task given to ne by Hirmler,

UDid Hirmler visit the canp ever?

"Yes, together with Pohl and other disnitaries, sone
of then in civilion clothes, sonme of them in uniforn.

tire you in o position to identify anyone?
"T think that would be scareely possible,

Did you ever see an official in one of the carps
whon you knew from the old days in' Berlin when you
were cormiitted to the prison there, or later on?

"Yes, ‘t/hen I went fronm Paris to Berlin, I was re~-
ceived in Prinz .lbrechtstrasse by a non who
irnedintely kicked me and beat me, and said, '.it
last we have ot you bastard now. Surely you know
7o I an, I was with the Consul General in .ntwerp.!
I rccognized hin agnin as the nan who had extended

my pass port in 1935 in Antwerp.
"He was then in the Foreign Service in the Consulate?

"Yese He had even the right to give signatures, I
know thot he then signed my passport.

ind he was later with the Gestapo?

Yes. I think hé rmst have had o very high position
with the Gestapos They all stocd at attention before
hin,

Micll, let!s go back now to the evacuation of iusch-
witz and the lost point. “You were evacuatced fron
auschwitz in January 1945, did you?

¥os.

"Together with the other survivers?

S e
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"I think about seventy thousand people went on
that transport fron .wuschwitz. I remenber very
peecisely that on 18 January we left at six in
the norning. It was fourtcen degrees below zero,
and we had only our thin overalls. e nmovchicd
for fifty-five kilomcters in one nipght., .n order
was given that everyone who fell behind would be
shct down ruthlessly. I ryself counted—

Mias that o nere threat?

L saw nyself and counted betweun Juschwitz and
Leosslau at one side of the road three hundred
sixty—one corpses, Shots were fired every rminute,
and the victins were not even shot properlys.

They were lying therc in their blood, sone of then
screarning with nadness, others freezing to denth.

Wilerc they Gernen, foreigners or whet?

t.nyone was shot down who did not maréh in the rowse
There was an justrio-Hungnrien Field Morshel, .
scventy—four years of age who morched next to ne, -
I dragged hin along, but when he couldn't mnrch on,
he laid down next to a tree and then was shot in
the neck,

"Finally you renched Buchenwald, did you?

"Yes,

"How maagy kiloneters mrs there fron Buchenwald to
Yy
auschwivz?

LTt is difficult to saye. Ve only narched as far as
Losslau end then we werce lusded on scrie open coal
wagrons, one hundred sixty of us to a wagon, and
holf of us only were alive when we arrived,
"Buchenwald was in Gerneny, wasn!t it?

"Oh, yes. Buchenwald is noar ifeirar,

ird juschwitz was in occupied Polend, is that
correct?

"es; it was in the neighborhood of Kattowico,
"ijell, now you arrived in Buchenwald whon?
"ie were first in a small intermediary canp called

Gross—-Rosen, and from therc we wert to Bucheawaid.
about the niddie or end of Feoruary.

"ihat ycar, Mr. State Corinidssioncr?
"In 1945.

Wlere therc nany innaates in Buchenw2ld?

s
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"It was overcrowded. Normally Buchenwald could
receive twelve to fifteen thousand inmates, but
when these tronsports cane in there were as nany
as seventy thousand at Buchenwald.

"hat sort of work was done there?

"It was the stone quarry, the so-called death de-
tachnent, then again the Gernan equipnent works,
the arrwnition factories. There was a factory
for sparc parts of aircraft and a nuwber of other
factories,

"Did foreizners and Gerrmons work there?

NThere weré rostly Germon political prisoners and
foreigners.,

"Fron what conntries?

"Frencn, Belgion, neny Yugoslavs and Russian prisoners

of war,
Mlere there only Jews there?

"Until the large transport cane in there were only
two blocks, twe large buildings occupied by Jews,
blocks 22 and 23. .11 of us were of varying
nationalities. Bach nationality had a block or
sever=l blocks to themselves, French blocks,

Czech blocks, Hungorion blocks, althouch there
were relatively few Hungorians there., They cane
in later, and they were all alloc ted to some work,

"ihat religions were represented?

111 religions, Protestants, Catholics and nany
Jews,

"Orthedex Jews?
"Oh, yes.
"Fron the Balkan countries, you nean?

"Oh, yes. There was a special block for Catholic
priests,

"How nony were in there?

"T should estirate there were betwecn two hundred
and threc hundred Catholic priests in Buchenwald,

"ihat was the treotment then, was it better there?

"In 1945, it was better compared te the old days,
but it was still bad enough, a2s the SS shot
savagely throughout the canp on the smallest pro-
vocation, particularly during the work in the stohe
quarries, where they would kill people without any
consideration whatevers

o
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Mlerc you ever told why things werce better there?

MThings were better there because Buchonwald was at
2 foecal point of public opinion. Bucheny2ld was
known abroad. It held nony prorminent inmates.

"ihe were some cof the personages well know there?

"Leon Blun, Schuschnigg, end several people who
were constantly in the eyes of cbservers abroad
ancd as they feored too rmch would becone known

abroad the treatnent was better. In addition to

‘that by the end of the war, in 1945, the bullying

of the SS decrcased, becouse they had other things
to do.

al

"intil when c¢id you rencin there?

T renained there o few nionths till after the
liberation, because the american authorities had
asked ne to supervise the evacuaticn of the sick,
when I had becere ranager of the hospital, becausc
after 2ll we had eight thousand very ill peodle
who could no longer walk,

Wihen did the United States Jirny arrive in the camp?

11 Aprii 1945, It was General Patton!s First
«rriour Units,

Wlis an inventory token in the canp at the time?

iTant would have been guite impossible, because
thres coys before 18,000 Jews were killed in the
forest arcund Buchenwald with anti-tank rockets,
Ve didn't know aay riore who was still there. The
wnole carp was being dissolved, and no roll call
was possible any riore,

"ilhy were so many people killed within the last
three cays?

HBacoauvse Hirvder had given an order that no immates
muct be kepu alive for the llies, and at this point
tae so-ecollcd Bvacuation tock piace, but the Canp
in Bucncnwald was active. The illegal

of tke. Buchenwolc Conmp for the first

, strons resistonce, ana we did not carry
out: the crders, 'The pocrest :und ths weaskest, most
of them were the Hungorien Jews, wore driven out-—
side the chp, and were killed in the woceds around
Eppersberg,

"8y whori. by the 35S or —

"No, fromn o few of the survivors we have ascertained
by tesbinonials that they were Hitler Youbth who
tried ocut the anti-tark roclicts on these unfortunate
people,

"Then Genernl Patton cane?

=0 Ik



'Yes,
Mlere pictures token there?

"Tes, pictures were token, and films were nade,
I nyself was present, since ,uerican authorities
had appointed rnie in charge of the civilian
hospital in Buchenwald. (hat we sow and ex—
perienced there, nade even a nan like General
Patton cry. "He tecld me verbally, 'I fought
neny battles, but I have never seen so rwch
nmisery in all ny life as I did here in Buchen—
wald,!

DR. KEMPNER:

"Thank you very rmuch. That is all,

PRESIDING JUDGE IL.GUIRZ:

.ny cross cxanination? There being no further
cross exariination the witness will be excused,!

Tronscript, pages 2509-2522)
2
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Irue to the princisles of the National Sociclist cdoctrine
in “he Third Reich, the Foreign Office incugurated and executed
in its sphere of jurisdiction the anti-Jewish policy which re-

sulted in the externinotion of six millicn Jews in Turopee.

The Gernon Forei;n Office, alsc known as lMinistry of
Foreirn .ffairs, was in charge of 21l nmatters concerning German
relations to other ccuntries, including the affairs of foreign
nationels in Gerneny. During the first years of the Hitler
regine, the Foreign Office had to deal with the Jewish question
when foreisn powers intervened on behelf cf their persccuted
4 Jewish notionnls in Gerncny, ot when the enigration of Germon
Jews to foreisn countrics raised politicel or cconoric problens

in the field of foreign relations.

Yar and the ~ggressive sweep of the Gernen arnies broadened
¢ and increased the duties of the Germen Foreign Office in this
field, Vhen the peoples of .wustria, Czechoslovakia, Poland,
4 France, and cther conquered or intimidated countries cane under
the black wing of the Gerron war eagle, the fate of the Jous
of these countriés becone an important factor in Gerrnon relations

X with these countries.

This trisl brief will show thnt the Germnn Foreign Office
nepotiated the lives and dsstinies of these Jews with suprene
authority, through forming the general pciicy towards these
countries, or giving instructicns to the German pleripotentinries
in these countries., The degree of Fereign Office control and
participation in the anti-Jewish progron is indicated fron the fact
that nore theon ninety-five percent of the Huropean Jews were
foreizn (non-Gerrnn) naticnals (Pros. IEx. 1452, Doc. Bk. 59,

p. 89), and hence -—so for as the renoecidal action wes concerned ~-

e
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were under the jurisdiction of the Cerrion Foreiym Office.

There were nany foreign policy aspects involved in the

forming and implementation of the progron to exterrinste the

Jews of Hurope. Consequently, this progran bulkec large in

the work of every divisicn and section of the Foreizn Office,
On the top were the Minister and his State Secretaries, first
the defend-nt WEIZS.ZCKER and subsequently the defendant STEEN-

GR..CHT.

The State Secretory was o permanent deputy of his Ildnister
I I o

]

for the entire ficld of jurisdiction. He was aleso o political
civil servent, i.e., he had to observe the politicel line of
his govermment and he wos removed if he did not function

correctly in political. sphers (Expert witness, Professor Hans

Peters, Transcript, pages 316-317).

Next in linc was the Politicel Divisicn, the central core

cf the Foreigzn Office, which nade and drafted proposals in this
() 2 £ L

field, Its Chief was, until 1943, the cdefendant, Under Secretary

WOZERILNY and his deputy was the defendant Erdnannsdorff.

The title of Cnler Secretory which was given to WOERIL.NN

incicates Lhe gret significance of the office WOERIL.NN had, or

e importanze cf this specific perscnality for the servics
(Testiriony of expert witness Professcr Haas Peters, Transcript,
A)

pages 353-354) .

The poweriul role of the Political Divisicn within the

Foreign Offjice is described in a nenorandun by the Special

anbassador in the Foreign Orfice, von Rintelen, dated 30 Septeiiser

1944 (Presi Bx. 3658, Doc, -Bk. 39=i, P« T et seq.). In the
chapter con the Political Division in this neiworandun, under II,
the role of this division, for deeades the dorinont division in
the Foreign Office, is set forth as fpllows:

ik ol il
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nII. Within the Forcign Office the Political Division
holds the positionc? o central agency which is to
obscrve current events abroad and to desernine Foreign
Poligcy sccording to the Fuehrer's inten-ions. For

this purpose it is subdivided into scetions, responsible
for the individual countries, respectively group of
countries, which have the duty to providle the Reich
Foreign Minister ot ony time with the st accurate
inforrntion concerning the foreign polir.dicel situaticn
of o specific country and which must be able to put the
entire avnilable materisl ot his dispos:l. Thus, for
exeaple, in pelitical decisions to be tiken in our
relations to Spain the Politicel Divisicn must be in
the position to have within irrediste reach all data
giving exhaustive infernation on political developnent
in Spain up to row, on her relations to us and to

other powers onc on her present dorrinant political
tronds, This dernnds a constant coliectisn and
eveluction of general or confidenticl infc rrotion which
is obtained by v-rious ways and neans, and a2lsc requires,
observing regulorly the attitude of politdc ally in-
sortant perscnalities abroad. The Politico.. Division
obbtains the necessary dote through telegrapt ic, written
and verbal renerts of their foreign nissicns through
reports fron of ficials sent abrond espeéinlly for this
purpose, through informetion derived from confidential
and secret scurces; in additiorn through the current use
of press and redio informeticn supplied by the press
ond broadcasting divisicns, through studying irportent
foreign political documents, and finally througl personal
contact with nceredited fer. ign nissicns in Beriin and
through the services of influentisl pcople abroad.

"The second irmportent function of the Political Division
consists in the political guidance of our foreign rep—

escntations. It is the duty of this departnent to see
thot the Gerran nissions abroad get sufficiently well
acquainted with the guiding orinciples of the Reich
Foreign Minister in foreign policy as well as with the
political atiosphere in cther countries. (Language
groups). But it also provides the necessary instructions
for the Gerron missions ebread, with regard to a2ll
specific political questions, so that they are dealt
with in complete confornity with the Reich Foreign
Minister!s dircctives.

"Finally, the Pelitical Divisicn rust maintein contact
with foreirn missions in Gernony, it rust accept their
proposcls with re; ord to politienl questions and it rust
negoticte these questions with ther. Y[ithin the Forecign
Officé it is the responsibility of the Political Division
to sec to it th-t the activities of other divisions
conforn with our principles of Foreign Policy, generally
and in cvery specific casc, since it is understood

that such specific questions, for exanple, questions
reloting to Forei;n Trade natters and the foreign press
can only be cealt with, if they £211 clearly in line
with the general politicel trend to which we adhere
with regnrd to foreign countricse”

The rolc of the Political Division in the riass rmrder of
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six million Jews is proved by hundreds cf Prosecution cocunents,

acting Chief, handled certein legal problems in the progron,
This division was under direct control and supervision of the

defendant s WEZIZS..ECKER and later STEENGR..CHT.

_____ ~Goinistrotive Division, of which the
affiant Hans Schroeder wes in charge, handled such problers as
supplying adequate personnel to the divisions in Berlin and the
rnissicns abroad, for meinteining the program. This division
furnished the noney, the diplomatic passports, and made the
tenporary cuty arrangenents for Foreign Office specialists,

such os the defendant Veesennayer who nade field trips to Slovakia
and Serbia and the nffiant von Thadden who nade field trips to
Serbizs and Hunyary in connection with the exterrmination progran.
The Personnel end .itinistrotive Division was 2lso under the
direct control and supervision of the defendant WEIZS.ECKER ond

later of the defendont STEENGR.,.CHT.

The Division Deutschland played alsc a very important role
in the externination progran of the Gernan Foreign Office. This
Division was especinlly nctive in the operational field, in its
functicn as the lisiscn office with the Reichssicherheitshauptant

(RSHi) and the SS, that is, to the agencies which enforced the

policy and rulings nade by the Fereign Office and its representatives

for carrying out the annihilation progran,

During nost of the pericd of the State Secretaryship of the
defendant WEIZS.ECKER, the Under State Secrctary Luther wes head
of the Divisicn Deutschland; Riboentrop had him sent to a con-
centration cap because of alleged disloyelty to hin. During the

Stote Secrctaryship of the defendont STEINGR..CHT, the affiant
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Horst Viagner -was in charge of the Division Deutschland,

Hundreds of documents show that continuous cooperation be-
tween. the Political Division and thelDivision Deutschland., Their
teart work was devoted to the successful completion of the anni-
hilation progran. There are instences, as in all government
adninistrations of the world, where chonnels of procedure were
not followed, and one or the cther division chief or major
official talk directly and personally to the head of the department.
Luther may well have epproached the department head Ribbeptrop
directly without going first to the defendant VEIZS.ECKER. However,
even in these instances, the defendant WEIZS.ECKZR was informed
irmediately afterwards and had an opportunity to nake objections
if he did not want to agree to the natters involved. In fact,
the defendant VEIZS.ECKER watched out for his prerogatifes and
authorities jealously. .s a result, the hundreds of Prosecution
and defense docurents show the chonnels were frithfully adhered

toe.

Throughout their dircct cxeninations, it wes one of the main
tactics of the defendonts WEIZSALECKER (Transcript, p. 8552 ct seq.)
and WOERILNN (Trenscript, page 11264 et seq.) to try to shift the
responéibility for their own crimes to the shoulders of the misging
or deceased director of the Division Deutschland, Martin Luther,
They ¢laim that he had the primary jurisdiction in the annihilation
progran. Hven if that were true, WEIZS..ECKER was his superior
offiecial and supervisor, in his capacity as State Secretory.
However, this shifting of responsibility for murder is rather
ironic. Let!'s assune for the sake of argunent, that only the
late Ribbentrop and the late Luther had jurisdiction over the
annihilation progream. Why were the defendants WEIZS.ECKER,

WOERIL.NN and STEENGR..CHT so willing and eager to put their
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signatures hundreds of timcs under Jdocuments which allegedly
did not belong to their jurisdiction thus cormitting extra-
jurisdictional rmurder, No crininal before the court of any
country has ever beecn acquitted because of his clain that he

rurdered in the district which was not under his jurisdiction

but that of another geng,



VI,BASIC LiC.l :iINCI TS ILG4lDING SIGKLTUR.S Gl DOCUMLNTS
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Hundreds of eizhibits submitted in this trial show that the German
Foreign Cffice was a very smoothly functioning machine with complete
teamork among the verious divisions, The State oecretaries dis-
tributed copies oI the sealed matters to the divisions and branches

mn h}

concerned, The aduinistrative oiffices circulated the less secret

3 matters to the verious divisions and branches. .utong the larzge amount
of documents submitted in this case, there are onl;r = few which at
least five to iifteen persons ancd sections did not work on, or have
some connection -:ith.

as 1n most established government bureaus in 211 the capitals
of the world, the experts drafted their proposals; +the proposals
vent up to the chier of a section, were passed upon by him and
forwarded up the line to the division chief where ther were again
passed upon anc sub.idtted to the State Secretary, cccasionally -
after he had passed on it — also to the Foreign :inister.

It is interesting to note that in the hundreds of documents
submitted as exhibits, we find only an exceptional fewv which did
not follow the established bureaucratic channels, the line up and
the line down, It is also noteworthy that in iost cases there
was complete concurrence on all levels and betueen all divisiens
perticipating, especially between the roliticel Division and the
Division Deutschland, .uong tne instances of lacic of concurrence
in the prosecution documents, we note objections or inguiries of
the Le_al Division. These objections and incuiries irere openly
made and vere sustained or overruled by the oState Sceretary or
Idnister,

As a standerd rulc in all government administrations of the
world, the subscribing to, the signing of, the undersigning of,
the co-si ning oI, the endorsing of, the initialing of, the counter-
signing of, « proposal which eventually imas sent out incicates

consent, oificial approval, and authorization, There are no

-

symbols in the alpanebet or in any lenguage of the world whose
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shape conveys both alteractives, Yes and Ho. (Sce cross—-cxamination
Lohmann Tr.page 9703) 1n all adainistrations ol the world the
signing of a document -dthout any protest meens an oificial Yes, or
an official ‘no objection’, whether under a court decision or under
an administraotive or diplometic act.

If the defendant ITIZSALCKER presumes upon the Tribunal's
credulity with e claim that his of ficial signaturcs acounted some-
times only to doodling on a paper waich chanced to lie on his desk -
this claim must be put in a class with Lemmers'! attempt to depict
himseclf as a cleri or notery | f

Reservetions not atpressed by withholding of signature or
otherwise, are mental or inner reservations or dissctisfoctions,
purely subjective and without any effect in fact ond low. There
exist millions of signotures under legal, administrative, and
business documents whcre the signer might have been dissatisfied
with some details of the combract or act he signed, or may even
have feit inncr rcpusnonce of cualms of conscicnee &t the time he
signed it. But with the signing of his name he, nonctheless,
knowingly has undcrtalen the responsibility or obligotion for that
signature, and beforc the law whatever inner rcservetion he mey have
felt is without wvelidity.

If the prosccution had to analyze onc or tio isolotced documents
with WEIZSAECKZR!s, TJCERLNN's, and STEENGR..CHT!, sign:tures under
documents vhich were in effect death verrsnts, some of their
alleged inner rescrvations might play a role in the whole picture,
but WEIZSAECLER, ~iC.4Ri.iWlf, STE.NGRACHT, and their associatcs
signed through the years the death warrénts of millions of people,
and, as we will shou, with full knowledge of the conscquences.

They were habitucl pcrticiponts in wor crimes and crimes ageinst
humenity. They were hordened and practiced in this vast program
of crimes and in similcr programs of the Third Reich. Thus, it
becomes fully irrclovant vhether they put their fatel signature
at the top or the botton of the document, 2t the left side or at

the right side, with full name or with initisl, tyoc.ritten or



handwritten, on an cction sheet or on an inforintion copy, or
vhateover burcaucr:abic parcphernclis were mentioncd by the

defendents in order to confusc the clcar—cut issue oi murder.

In fact, any cloim of the dofense thet, out of the hundreds of
documents vhosc totclity composcs the participation qf the dcfendonts
in the "final solution of the Jewish cuestion’’, o fcu decureats were
not channcled the normcl wey, or not signed by cll persons concerned,
and similer despercte quibblings cannot be telicn too seriously by
the prosecution. Iievertheless, the prosecution will explain in

this brief how in the individusl instenccs the defendants hove
indicted themselves through their own signatures,

It does not scen necessary to discuss in this connection the
testimony given by the witnees Prcfessor Erich iLaufmann, who wanted
to moke the Court belicove that he is one of the few living persons
who is ablc to intorpret diplomatic documents (Tr. p. 7243 - 7245).
This witness trapped himself vhen he was faced with Pros.Ex. 1635,
NG 4407, Doc.Bk. 60 4, p. 72). He wented to make the Court believe
that the instructions given by the defendent (EIZSA.CHIR of Junc 29,
1942 to the Foreign Office rcpresentstive Ludin in Slovekia, for
pressing the Slovckien Government to adhere vo the final solution'
policy of the Germeis, were a kind of stop order, lio thinking
person, aside from the cxceptional Dr. Koufmenn,. could come to
this conclusion upon rcading the docum;nt, and the addressec
Ludin knew very well how to act upon the instruction to further
the exclusion of thirty-five thousand Jews from olovekie.

However, Keufimcnn's atbtitude becomes understaondable when we
realize that he tias onc of the few Jews out of millions, who re—
;eived some hclp from the Forcign Office-as a result of his former
cmployment with this cgency. It is obvious that the Nezis did

not want to destroyr such a staunch protagonist of their ideology,
who alrcady meny yeers before had published in onc of his books

such sentences as:

"

i



war is a nceessity in intcrnationol laow.
This nceessity cconnot cnd cven should not be
renoved from the worid by erbitrotion.™

(Tr. p. 7308)

ot the community of men acting of their
oun frce will, but the victorious tor is
he social ideal." (Tr. p. 7308)

In szencrel, the death warrants of the Forcign Office were
so clcarly expressed thot the Foreign Office plenipotentiarics
or rcprescntatives all over Burope understood them so well that
the Forcign Office Headquartcrs in Berlin, with few exceptions,
never had reason to give their murderous instructions twicc or
to claborate on them. The witness Koufmonn must have becen aware
of this sincc he himself was onc of the few persons vho werc not
sent from the Gerimin-occupicd Netherlonds to the annihiletion
camps in thc East as some onc hundred thousand othcr Jews were

(Xaufmonn's cross—exeminetion, Tr. pe 1295 ct scq. )

under cross—exaiiination
The defensc witness Lohnonn cdmitted /thc correctness of the

sbove mentioned basic principlcs concerning the meoning of

signatures and the functioning of the teanm work with the follouing

words:

"hundreds of clcrks watched the proper wty of
chonnelling " (Tr. p. 9726)

Nhere wes o very slight possibility thet
soncthing s distributed which s not
signed " (Tr. p. 9725)

by initicling the draft he (the superior) acccpted
the form of the draft just the same os the Referent
approved the droft ..o " (Trep. 9703)

"Even if he h~d aental reservation , outwardly he
approved of it, " (Tr. p. 9703)
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Fron the beginning of the Third Reich, the Foreigsn Office
defendants devoted their cfforts to the carrying out of the anti-

Joewish pelicy in the ficld of foreirn relations.

Jready in 1934, VEIZS.ECKER's defense affiant Buclow—
Schvante together with TJORRILNN's defense affiant Enbassy
Counsellor Bisrarck who unfortunately could not cone to Nurnberg
for cross—cxarvination becausc of o condition nedicelly diasnosed
as "stage fright" hired in clese cooperation with the Gestepo,

in London
the agent Uescnmann/'.Thc acent wes assigned to shadow Jews
and political refugees outside Gernany, anc to undertaoke the
kidnapping of the editor Berthold-Ja~kob Salononm, & Jewish resident
of France, and of other persons (Tr. p. 9981/9982, Pros. Ex. C-12,
C-13). Becausc the Berthold-Ja kcb kidnapping reised so rmeh dust
internationally, and endan;ercd the activities of other Nazi

acents, Hitler himself deciced (Tr. p. 9985, Pros. Bx. C-10, Cc-11,

- =12, C-13, Doc. Bk. 215) that Salonen rmst be returnad to

Switzerland where he had been kicdnopped by the Foreign Office

agent lesennenn. On order of Hitler, VEIZS.ECKER, =t that tine
Gerrian Hinister to Switzerland, rade the proper arrangenents with
the Swiss authorities. .lreacy at that early date, he thus becare
persopally acquainted with the kidno ping tactics of the Third |
Reich. Since Hitler hinself had ordered ‘that Saloron should be
returned, and WEIZS.ECKZR should arrange the procedure, UEIZS.ECKLR's
defense arcunents that his arrancenents with Switzerland were

helpful to Selonion have no nerit,

.s early as Febru~ry 1937, WEIZS ECKER's defense affiant
Buclow-Schwante of the Foreign Office distributed through the

Gerren diplomatic pouch the writing of the late Julius Streicher,

- 41 -



-4

titled "The Jew in Gerriany", to the foreign nissions of Gernony
which on their part were supposed to forward it to trusted agents
for further action. The cooperaticn with Julius Strcicher, whose
activities were, as we will see later, coerdinated with the anni-
hilation prograr of the Foreign Office, went so far that UEIZ-
S.ECKER's defense affiant Buelow-Schwante sent Streicher's
ralicious book to all Gernien Embassies and Legations (Tr. pe 9995)
including WEIZS.ECKER's Gernan Legation in Switzerlond. Fron that
tine, there could no longer be any doubt for any high official

of the Gernan Foreign Service at home and abroad as to what was

in prospect for the Jews under Nazi contrcl.

One year later, in the Surmier of 1938 the Gernon Ilinister
of Foreign ..ffairs was approached by the British .nbassacor who
asked pernission for Germon Jews and Foreign Jews living in Germany
to leave the country. The Gerrman Foreign Office, however, re-
fused to cooperste and WEIZS.ECKER reported to the German Embassies
in London, Paris, Rome, ‘Jashington, and ‘arsaw, and to the Gernan
Legations in Belgrade, Bucharest, Prague, Sofia, and the Gerran
Consulate in Geneva, that Cerriany could net facilitate the trans-
fer of capital by Jews (NG-3702, Bxhibit No. 1436, Docuricnt Book

No. 59, page 3)e

In the late Sumner of the sane year, the British and .nerican
Anbassadors approached the Gorizin Foreign Office to deal with the
question of an internationel rclief cormittee set up to facilitate
the emigration of Jews fron Gerneny. .n Jnerican citizen, lr,
Rublee, had been appointed director of that cormittee, Iir. Rublee,
the two .mbassadors expleined in two neroranda, was anxious to
go to Berlin in order to discuss directly with the corjetent
authoritiecs ways and neans of orgenizing the Jewish exodus fron

Germeny, WEIZS.ECKER was in direct contact with the two .mbassadors
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and peport cd to Ribbentrop on the reply he gave to the .nglo-

S~xon diplonatse.

"T oxplained to the ambassador, as oace

befcre in the surrier, that in my personal
opirion, lir, Rublce's journey to Gerr. eny

is ¢f no use,..lle, for very obvious ra1sons,
are not willing to provide Jews with foreign
CUrr21Cy,.+L was not able to recornend ire
Ruble::is journey...l explained to the . erican
ambas:ador, perhaps in a sonewhat less h.rsi
menner than to Neville Henderscn, the reasons
that would probably be in the wey of a usc ful
discussion between Mr., Rublee and the Gerr:n
offices . (NG-1537, Exhibit No. 1437, Docu-
nent Bec:k No, 59, pages 453 dated 18 QOct-
ober 19.8. Note signed by WEIZS.ECKIR,

sernt to Ribbentrop and WOERILINN, among others:,
and anit.ialed by WOERM..NN).

Three days later th: British Charge d!.ffaires asked afain
to discuss the question of Mr. Rubleeis visit to Berlin. This
time WOERIL.NN. who hed rec¢ eived the British official., reperts to
WEIZS..ECKER.
"I replied to Sir George Ogilive Forbes <zal
a sinilar wa,z as . the State Secretary’
recently repz.ied to the ambassador's
(NG~1525, Lxk:ibit No. 1438, Docunent Bock
No. 59, page 0)e
The .mericen .rbassador .¢id not give up hope and aga.n tried
on the 2nd of Noverber 1938 tio approach WEIZS.ECKER on the question
of Mr. Rublec's visit to Berl §n. Obviously the "sonewhat 13ss
horsh way" in which the reque st of the .rmerican .nbassador vas
turned down by State Secretar;y WEIZS..ECKER encouraged the .merican
diplenat to continue his effoirts. TEIZS..ECKIR reported to his
colleague, 'OZRIL.NN,
"I put hin off with vague nromises,”

(NG-152L, Exhibit No,1439,
Docurient Book No. 59, page 7)

When, on Noverber Tth, 1938, WEIZS.ECKER was agein faced
\
with a new initiative by the British, he contacted the British
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Charge d'.ffaires asking hin for inforrmation as to what percenta;ec

of aryan blood Mr, Rublee had (NG-4686, Exhibit No. 1440).

These docunients, representing inter-office notes and nernoranda,
indicate that the defendents YEIZS ECKER and WOERIL.NN were both ia
basic agreement with the Nazi policy and attitude toward the Jews,
WEIZS..ECKER volunteered in his notes renarks which reflect his
personal opinion that the Jews of Gernany could nct be pernitted
to dispose of the property which they had accumulated in Gernany.
He not only executed the order of preventing the transfer abroad
of Jewish property, but he and WOERIL.NN conspired actively in a
cormon effort to deceive the diplomats representing other nations,
In that conspiracy they developed their own initiative, sheped

by WEIZS..ECKER's diplenatic skill and experience.

In a letter dated 1oy 13, 1938 (NG-3802, Exhibit No. 1757,
Docurient Book No. 64),the defendant WEIZS.ECKER wrote to State
Secrectary Brinkmann in the Reich and Prussian linistry for Econoriic
Affairs, on a decree dated .pril 26, 1938 which dealt with the
registration of Jcwish property in Germany. WEIZS.ECKER liscs
the countries which have made objections to the registration of
property of Jeus of non-Gerren notionality. He fears that at this
particular moment Germon export misht suffer and diplomatic relations
betwe.n Gerrany and foreisn countries night become strained. In
view of these possible rcpercussiocns in the field of foreirn
policy, he advised applicaticn of the measures in such a way as
to quiet down the adverse public opinicn aroused abroad by this
decree. However, the defendent WEIZS..ECKER, while advising caution
for reasons of expediency, is quick to express his own attitude

towards the neasures,
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"I can sce no rcason why foreign Jews should be
exenpted completely from the provisions of the
decree, dated .pril 26, 1938, especially since
the decrece stipulates in principle thet foreign
Jeus too should be subject to registration,™
(NG-3802, Exhibit No. 1757, Document Bock No, 6L)

The defendent WEIZS.ECKFR could not sec any reason why the
preperty rights of foreign Jews should be more protected than
those of the Gerran Jews, Vere they not Jows aftcr all? Vhy
therefore should they enjoy the protection of the law as if they

were rccognized nenbers of the human society? Such was the

nentality of the defendant WEIZS..ECKER even beforc the anni-

hilation progran had been initiated, Irmbued with such reasoning
it wos natural to endorse step by step more and more radical
neasures agninst the Jews up to and finally including the

physical extermination of the Jews,

& eSS
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VIII, “HE FOREIGN OFFICE AND JEWISH POGROM O.' NOVEMBER 1938.

On November 8, 1938, the German Legation Councillor Ernst vom Rath
in Paris was assassinated by a desperate young Jew named Grynspan whose
relatives had been deperted from Germany. Taking this crime as a pretext,
the govérnment unieashed durinzg the night of November 9 - 13 a pogrom,
known in Germany as Kristallwoche, in fact an orgy of arson, destruction,
mass arrest and murder against people of Jewish extraction living in
Germany. Synagozues were burned, cemeteries were desecrated, private
property was wantonly destroyed and many tens of thousands of persons

2 210 Tov.e, Mt were tiwrown into concentration camps and sub-

- v T e e and m P -y

Jected to Torturs cr murder. In line with its jurisdiction in foreign
affai@s, the German Foreign Office became active in the follow-up of
this pogrom. The Foreign Office was invited by Goering to a conference
on the Jewish question scheduled for the 13th of November 1938 in the
Reich Air Ministry. Goering wro%e to WEIZSATCKER (Pros. Ex. 1758,
[G-3936, Doc. Bk. 64) tu participate personally in that conference

"The men in charge of Jewish affairs in your
cffice should be taken along.”

However, the defencant WEIZSAECKER could not attend in pexrson the
meeting scheduled by Goerirg. He headed the German delegation at the
funeral cevemon& in Paris for Councillor vom Rath, The defendant
WEIZEAECKER himself delivered the official funeral oration in Paris, in
which he saw fit to adop* well known anti-Jewish slegans. (Pros. Ex.
2098, NG-llol;Doc. Bk. 57 B, pp. 45-46)

The defendant WEIZSAZCXER submitted affidavits attempting to show
that he did not resort to certain slozans in‘the use of which he seems
to feel a particular shame. It is irrelevant whether the official re-
port on this speech in the "Voelkischer Beobachter" lapsed in some e
specific phrase. Thé general tone and style of this speech is not
different from that employed by other participants in the Nazi pogrom
for the elimination of Jews. This funeral was regarded as of such

impertance in the political field that the Foreign Office sent nat

only ":ading official State Secretary WEIZSAECKER but another of its
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prominent officials the defendant Bohle, who also honored the oceasion
with an anti-Jewish oration (Pros.Ex. C-254, Doc. Bk. 27p)

Following-up the propagandistic exploitation of the death of vom
Rath, WEIZSAECKER later concerned himeelf with varticipating in the
organizing of a mock trial against Grynspan.

Since WEIZSAECKER was busy in Paris using the funeral of vom Rath
for an anti-Jewigh demonstration, he assigned, in a penciled note, his
deputy, the deféndant WOERMAN, to attend in his stead the Goering meet-
ing (Pros. Ex. 1758, NG-3936, Doc. Bk. 64).

In the stenographic report on the meeting regarding the Jewish
Question, which tcok place under the chairmanship of Goering (Pros.

Ex. 1441, PS-1816, Doc. Bk. 59, p. 9 ot seq.), WOERMAN diecussed with
Goering the Foreign Cffice aspects and jurisdiction in the measuras
against non-German Jews. A dialogue developed between WCERMANW and
Goering, Goering assuring WOERMAL that, while it is impossible to con-
sult the Foreign Office ia every case, cun the whole, the Foreign Office
will be consulted, and WORRMALN replying, making clear the Toreign Office
Jurisdiction:

"Aeyway T would like io make kncwn the claim of
the ¥orsign Office to participate.’ (p. 18).

A% this vao Dasting, in which the defendant WOERMAI represented the
Foreign Office, other top German cfficials, including Goering, Goebbels,
Heydrich, Frick, Funk, Ferl and the defendants Schwerin von Krosigk, and
otherg, barticipated ia the discuésions. The murder of Jews in the pogromg
cf November 8, 193¢ wag adnitted; regret was even expressed that not more
Jews were killed.

A representative of & Jerman insurance codpany ccmplained that the

to
damage done/Jewish property, especially Jewish steres, of which 7,500
were destroyed in the Reich, must be partially compensated by iasurence
companies. When Heydrich, after admltfing the extent of damages, was re-

minded by the insurance representative,

"We will have to pay for them too,"

Goering answered,

"I wish you had kilied 200 Jews and not destroyed
such value";

...47...



\¥

thereupon Heydrich retorted,
"There were thirty-five killed." (Doc. Bk. 59, p. 29)
In the course of the meeting, WOERMANN again stood up to Goéring
in order to make clear the Foreign Office's juriediction in dealing
with the Jews, and to his question,

"In other words the Foreign Office is granted
the right to be consulted?"

Geering answered,

"Granted. But I would like to avoid mentioning
the foreign Jews as long as we can help it."
(Doc. Bk. 59, p. 35).
In that same conference Goering announced quite plainly,
"If in the near futurc the German Reich should
come into a conflict with foreign powers, it
goes without saying that we in Germany should
first of all let it come to a showdown with the
Jews." (Eine grosse Abrechnung an dea Juden zu
vollziehen. Page 56 of the original - a more
accurate translation is: To settle the big
final account with the Jews.)
This remark of Goering's foreshadowed Germany's intention to exterminate
the Jews within its power. or the correctness of %the transcript of the
conference, see ..f{idavit I'ritz Loerr, (Pros.Eth, 3722, & 5090,0.B,201.)

WOERMANN, in a telephone call on the same day (Pros. BEx. 1442,
Doc. N3-3565), informed Ribbentrop of the results of the mecting and
communicated to the chief of the Foreign Office,

"I have announced the question of the treatment of
foreign Jews and safeguarded the participation of
the Foreign Office in 2ll measures generally and
individually. Our starting point is that foreign
nations are only to be taken into consideration
if prevailing interests of the Reich compel us to
do so...". (Doc. Bk. 59, p. 53).

A few days later, nn November 16, 1938, the defendant WOERMANN re-
coived a cable from the United States quoting President Franklin D.
Roosevelt's remarks during a press conference about the Jewish pogrom
in Germany and the recall of the American Ambassador Wilson in Berlin
in this connection., WOZRMANN in his memorandum raised immediately the
question, what the German reaction to this step of the American President
should be by showing his activity in the anti-Jewish pogram (Pros. Fx.
0-231, NG-1523, Doc. Bk. 206 4, p. 1).

On January 25, 1939 the Foreign Office informed all diplogatic re-

presentatives, missions, and consulates abroad of the measures under-
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taken to eliminate Jows from the economic life in Germany (Pros. Ex. 1759,
NG-1793). By 1939, the memorandum reveals, Germany's economy was to
become cempletely free of Jewish infiucnce, due to the decree concorning
the utilization of Jewish property, which was drawn up with the cooper-
ation of the Foreign Office representative, WOERMANN. The officials

of the Foreign Officc abroad were informed that no assurances had been
glven to foreign countries as to the rights of their nationals of

Jewish origin; only the promisec had been given that individual cases
would be examined in the light of trecaties in forco with the countries

in question.
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Ix, "THE JEWISH QUESTION AS FACTOR OF GERMAN PERTIGY CLICY (1959)

As a well organized agency oporating with full teamwork and
keeping their files in order, we will show now from the German Fore’zn
Offico files the activities of the defendants WEIZSAECKER, WOERMALLT,
Erdmannsdorff and others in initiating and establishing the program
for the "radical .solution" of the Jewish question. ILet us turn our-
selves first to the Foreign Office directive dated January 25, 1939,
entitled "The Jewish Question as a Factor in Germen Foreign Policy in
the Year 1938" (Pros. Ex. 1444, 3358-PS, Doc. Bk. 59). This roport
signed by legation councillar Schumburg, onc of the defendant's }
WEIZSAECKER's subordinates and a defense affiant in this trial, was
regarded to be of so much importance by tho Foreign 0ffice that it was
distributed to all diplomatic and ccnsulate representatives abroad.

It is of particular importance in conncetion with this trial
because it shows the clear relationship botween the azgressive war
acts of tho Third Roich and the execution c¢f the Jewish policy. This
document shews further the ciose cooperalion between the Foreign Office

and the military leaders in this Jewish question who received at least

ten copies of the report.,
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The pertinent parts of this document read as follows:

"inistry for Foreign Affairs, Berlin, 25th January 1939,
83 - % 19/1

Contents:

The Jewish Question as a factor in German Foreign Policy in the year 1938,

1.) The German Jewish Policy as basis and consequence of the decisions
for the foreign policy of the year 1938

2,) Aim of German Jewish Policy: Emigration. *
3.) Means, ways and aim of the Jewish Emigration,

4.) The emigrated Jew as the best propaganda for the German Jewish Policy,

It is certainly no coincidence that the fateful vear 1938 has
brought nearer the soluticn of the Jewish question simultaneously with
the realization of the M"idea of Greater Germany". Since the Jewish
Policy was both the basis and consequence of the events of the year 1938,
The advance made by Jewish influence and the destructive Jewish spirit
in Politics, Economy and Culture paralysed the powver and will of the
German people to rise again more nerhaps even than the power-policy
opposition of the former enemy allied powevs of the World War. The
heading of this sickness among the people was therefore certainly one
of the most important requirements for exerting the force which in
the year 1938 resulted in the joining together of Greater Germany. in
defiance of the world," 5 Y 4

The necessity for a radical solution of the Jewish question arose
however, also as a consequence of the foreign political developnent,
which resulted in a further 200,000 Jews in Austria in addition to the
500,000 of the Jewish Faith living in the Old Reich, The influence of
Jewry on Austrian Economy which had grown to enormous proportions under
the Schuschnigg Regime, made immediate measures necessary, with the
ain of excluding Jewry from German Economy and utilizing Jewish
property in the interests of the community., The act carried out as
reprisal for the murder of legation Counciller vom Rath (Gesandtschaftsrat)
accelerated this process to such an extent that Jewish shops -~ till
then with the exception of foreign bussinesses~disappeared from the
streets completely.

. That is the prograrr'y expressing the foreign policy attitude of
Gernany towards the Jewish question, Germany is very interested in
naintaining the dispersal of Jewry, The calculation, that as a
consequence Boycott Grouns and Anti-German Centres would be formed all
over the world, disregards the following fact which is already apparant,
the influx of Jews in all parts of the world invokes the opposition of
the native population and thereby forms the best propaganda for the
Gernman Jewish Policy,

In North Anmerica, in South America, in France, in Holland,
Scandinavia and Grecece, everywhere whercver the flood of Jewish imnigrants
reaches, there is today a visible increase in anti-Senetiz. .. A
task of the German Foreign Policy rust be to further this wave of
Anti-Semetisz. 1. This will be achieved less by Gerrion Propaganda &broad,
than by the Propaganda which the Jew is forced to circulate in his
defengese In the end its effects will recoil on therselves. The ro-
ports from German authorities abroad, emphasizc the correctness of this
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interpretation:

These examples from reports from authoritics abroad, can if
desired be amplified. They confirm the corrcctness of the expectation,
that criticism of the measurcs for excluding Jews from German
Lebensraunm which were nisunderstood in nany countries for lack of
evidence would only be temporary and would swing in the other dircetion
the moment the population saw with its own eyes and thus learned, what
the Jewish danger was to them, The pcorer* and therefore the rore
burdensome the immigrant Jew is to the country absorbing hin, the
stronger this country will react and the nore desirable is this effect
in the interests of German propaganda. The object of this Germon
action is to be the future international soluticn of the Jewish
question, dictated not by false compassion for the "United Religious
Jewish minority" but by the fullconscicusness of all peoples of the’

danger which it represents to the racial composition of the nations.

By Order
Sch-.umburg "

(Pros. Ex, 1hll, 3358-PS, Doc, Bk. 59, p. 58 et seq.)

Sk



This report was regarded as so important by the Internationel
Military Tribunal that it is quoted in(Volume I, p. 249 ). the IMT
Decision. When this docision was handed dowa this document was one of
fhe few availablc ones at that btime which cstebliched the pavticipaticn
of the Foreign Office in the anti-Jewish wrogram. In the mean time
hundrods of documents were discovered showing the decisive role of the
defendants WEIZT&ECK , WOHRMANY, an d STEEMGRACHT, and othor Foveign
Office participants in %ho most shocking crimcs against humanity.

To onc of the Foreign Office officials can plea that he was not
fully acqueinted with “he intordepartmental program. In November 1938
/EIZSABCKER and Bohle male thoir own anti-Jewish spueches in Paris.
WOERMANY participated with other icading Reich officials in the policy

magpwng meeting where it was bluatly expressced that not scoagh fows
had been killed, Strcicher’s literaturc had alrcady been distribated
one year before, in 1937, to ihec foreign service porscnnel abrosd. In
the Goering meeting ia 195¢, ih3 Reich Marshall had alrcady anncunced
that in casec of war th. Jowish zccouat would be settiecd first. Five
days after fchumbury wrote his nemerancum of January 25, 1939, the
Juehrer and Reichs Chansellor humself stated in the Reichstag in the
fFrescnce of the cer.fendanis WOZRMANY, WEIZSAKCLER, Lammers, Meissacr,
Koerner, Fuhﬁer;n»Krcsigk, Lappler, Dictriéh, Stuckars and others that,
if another war ceme the Jews of Furope would never survive it (Tr. p

22634 ~ 22635, Prow. Bx. 29¢8, Doe. Bk. 211).

\-<CAJ I IT”FWAPT&

_;’.

l\"

iciais ¢id prow wait for the zeming of the war

rminatiocn program. Therse is proos that carLy in

in ofdor 50 5351;/9i X
the summsr of 19%9, the Germea Ffereign Office and other Cerman azencies
supported pogrome in foreign covniries by financing anti-Jewish groups.
Even at that time the coopaeraticn beitwsen the Foroign 0Sfice and ths
trigger men of the RSVA is known. Thus, doydrich, the Chief of the PSHA

~ S 4 2 - s - - B ' O - . .
enbmitted in June 1939 a request of the Woldemeras Group, an arnti-Jowish

group in Litkuaria, to the Foruiga Officc, which obviously had funds
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appropriated for specific anti-Jowish activities. This report rcads in

part:

<

"In order to make usc of the anti-Semitic foeclings
in Lithvania, Jewish pogroms arc to be staged. 4n
amount ¢£f 100,000 Lit. is needed fer this illegal
work (a“out 41,000 marks)..." (Pros. Ex. 3635,
¥%4041, Doc. Bx. 215 B, pp. 31 et seq. and Tr. p.
10615) .

Thic document was forwarded to the defondant WEIZSAECKIR for ad-

vice and the defer.dant WEIZSAECXZR, in his own handwriting, added,

"I recommend rogular small payments c.g. 2,000
toe 3,000 marks every three months."

WEIZSAECKER ini sialed this, his own recommendation, on the 21lst of July

1939,

ln crosz -examination dofensc affiant Docrtenbach of the Foreign

Office who rad submitted this report to WELZSAECKER as asked (Tr.

p- 10615),

"Q. For how long had you known that the Foreign
Office holped finence murders ani pogroms?

A. T never heard that the Foreizn Office financed
pogroms;

Q. Then I would like to sulmit to you, and that
is the last thing I want to discuss with the
witnees Doertenbach, your own report on the sub-
Joet, and T want to add just an identification

aumber, prosecution 3635 for IG-4(41."
éxh,

FOREIGH OTIICE PRESSURE AGAINST FRANCE IN 1940.

About one month later the Third Reich attacked Poland. In May 1940

the Western countrics were atiacked and overrun by the German armed

might. Now Hitler's prophecy that the Jews of Europe would not survive

the war could begin tc take shape in rcality through the work of

WEIZSAECKER, WOERMANK, and STEENGRACET, and other defendants and

agencies.
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X, _DEPORT.TION CF GERILWN JEiS TO SOUTHERN

._-~.a-.-.--..-¢..

FRANCE ~ (1940)

after Fronce was overrun in sumner 1940, the Nazi govern—

“ nient undertook the first nass deportation of Jews fron the province

of Badenia to France, Thesc first carloadings of humen nisery in the
long line of hwian trensports took o different dircction than those
that followed - their destination was not the East, but newly con-
guered Franée. The Foreign Office had not, in the case of the Jews
of Badenia, the orlnarv jurisdiction as in the annihilation progran
agninst foreign Jews, but was also concerned with the deportations
since the Vichy Governnent raised sone objecticns opzainst the de-
portations of Gernan Jews to France,

In this situation the defendant WOERLL.NN #nd the defendant
VWELZS.AECKSR nede the subug;+1on to instruct Laval of the Vichy
Governient, that France hod to keep these deportees and thet it
would nct be allowed, undcr any circwsistaonces, to bring then beck

to their hone country,

WOERILANN. in a nenorardun to WEIZS.ECKER of Novenber 25, 1940,
initialcd by VEIZS.ECKJR, suggestod to the Foreign lfinister Ribben-—
trop that in his next ccnversation with Leval he should not even
discuss the problem of rhuutrlutlon, since the natter had aﬁre“dv
been setilced (Exhibit No. Q655, NG-4337, Docunient Book No. 99-38;

sage 20).

In contrast to various defense alliegations of TOZRILINN and
WEIZS..ICKER tais docunert shows clearly that WEIZS ECKIR and WOIRL.NN
were the persons who nade  sugiestions in .ati-Jewish nobters to

Ribbentrop, who was not interested in the inplenentation of the

anti-Jewish policy.

The way the Jew-baiter JOFRLNH of the Foreign Office tried to



evade his responsibility in this issue is clearly shown in the

following excerpts of his cross-exanination of July 9, 1948:

Q. "In your dircct exanination yesterday you said,
concerning the Jews in Baden who went to France, that
you only handled thaot by mistake. Is that correct?

ie "I didn't use that expression, but that is more or
less what I neant,

Qe "Well——
se "Oh yes, you are right, I did say I handled it 'by
nistake!; once as a result of an anonynous letter, and

once by nistake,

Q. "Yes, quite right. Did you have anything to .do vith
this affair of the Baden Jews later, in any way?

Ae¢ "I can't renember,

Q. "If I remind you that you were working in the political
sphere in this —If you don't remember. I would like to
show you docunient NG-4337, your suggestion that Laval
should be told that the return of these Jews to Germany
could, naturally, never be considered,

DR. KEIPNER: "Your Honors, I would like to have this
norked Exhibit 3655 for identification,

PRESIDING JUDGE POVERS: "It will be so narked,
BY DR. KEIfPNER:
Q. "Do you renmenber it now?

Le "I renerber, but what you said is not true; I did not
riake such a suggestion,

Q. "Is that not a suggestion for a conversation with
Laval?

Lo "It is a suggestion for a talk with Laval, but the
decision that the Jews could not be taken back had already
been nade, and, as I say, 'since this decision had already
been nade, the question cen hardly be discussed', .ind I
add that he could be told that further such transports
were not to be expected."

(Transcript, pages 11486-11500)
The sad story of the participation of the defendants
WEIZS.ECKER, ‘JOERIL.NN and other Foreign Office officiels in the
deportation of Germen Jews to France during war tine was as
follows:

On the 4th of Novenber 1940 the defendents VWEIZS.ECKER and
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VIOERIL.NN were inforned, through the Division Deutschland, that

on order of Gauleiter and Reich Governor Buerckel, stationed in

Metz, and Gaulciter Vlagner of Strassbourg, recently convicted and

sentenced to death, the Gestapo had rounded up all Jews in the
Gerren provinces of Baden and in the Saar Palatinate and had
irmediately shipped then to Fronce in waiting railwey trains. The
Gauleiters had taken thesc neasures agninst 6,300 German Jews fron
Baden and 1,150 Jews from the Saor Palatinate. There were plans
to deport the remainder from Gerneny proper, the Ostmark and the
Protectorate of Bohemia and Moravia, totalling about 270,000 persons
nostly of advanced age to Southern France. The Vichy governnent
expressed its objection to these reasures (NG-4933, Exhibit No.

1628, Docurent Book No. 60-., page 42).

The Hores for the .ged in llennhein, Karlsruhe, Ludwigshafen,
cte., were evecuated, In corpliance with the order, wonen and nen
who were unable to walk, were carried to the railwsy trains on
stretchers. The oldest deportee was a nen of 97 from Karlsrube,
The tine given the deportees for reporation varied fron a quarter
of an hour to two hours. Nurerous people cormitted suicide. The
deportees had to leave behind their possessions, their entire
cepital, and their land property. Only luggage not cxceeding 50

pounds was allowed. (Ibid, page L44).

The Jews were duaped in French canps at the foot of the
Pyrenees, after heving been on the iove for several days (Ibid,
page Lb).

On the docurient pointing out thesc details 7ZTZS.ECKER added

in his own handwriting: "I received the sane cormwunication with

the sane mail" (Dated October 30, 1940) (Ibid, page 42).
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The Chief of the Sccurity Police and the SD on the 29th of
October inforred Luther of the Foreign Office of that deportation
which "took place in all localities of Baden and the Palatinate
without friction and without incidents. The operation itself was
scarcely rcalized by the population" (NG-4934, Exhibit No. 1629,

Docurient Book No. 60-i, peze 46).

Ihile it was possible thet this action wes scorcely realized
by the German.population it was believed important to infornm all
the leading officials of the Foreign Office of the action. Its
function now was to nect the conplaints which had been received
by the Gernon ..rristice Cormission fror the French Vichy govern—

nent .

The French were particularly worried as to what to tecll the
French people about this inhunman act and Luther hinself asked for
instructions from the Reich Foreign liinister, especially on the
question of what to say would be done with these deported people.
When late in Noveiber the Foreign OZfice had not given an answer,
the French requested the return of these people to Correny, and the
Foreign Office informed the Germen .rrmistice Cormissionthet the
affair shall be tre.ted in o dilatory menner" (Ibid, page 49), in
order to seec whether the French would further insist upon obtaining

clarificetion.

On the 19th of Noverber 1940 the Gurnen .rnistice Cornission
inforred the Foreign Office that nearly a nonth had passed since
an inquiry was nade and no enswer had been received on this matter.
The French insisted upon knowing the intentions of the Reich govern-
sient with respect to these deporteecs (Ibid, parce 527«

"The French Governnent is indecd no longer able
to grant any refuge to thesec aliens" (Ibid, page 52)
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The inforration was passed on to 3State Seerctary UELZS.ICKER,
to Under State Sceretary WOZRILANN, and other officials of the Reich
Foreign Office.

"General Stuelpnogel hes instructed ne agoin to
request the Foreign Office to give ne instructions
as to the infornation which should be given to the
French! (Ibid, page 53).

Thereupon, the followins day, Radenacher suggested that
.nbassador Otto .ibetz, the Foreign Office representotive in Frence,
be instructed to discuss this question in Paris and to advise the
French to settle this matter quietly and not to mention anything

rnore about it at the Viesbaden arnistice headquarters.

The Reich Foreign Office also complained to ILiinisterial
Councillor Globke of Stuck-rt's division in the Reich llinistry of
the Intcrior, that the Reich Foreign Office was not informed at the
tine when thesc neasures to rvove the Jews werc initiated by
Stuckart's ministry. But the Reich liinistry of the Intcrior
equally was not inforried of the initial reasures which werc token
by Gauleiter Bucrckcl, who was subordinate to the Inﬁerior ad-~
ministrotion. Radenacher of the Foreign Office suspected that
soric disciplinary action would be taken ageinst the Gauleiter who
had acted without clcarance of the Forcign Office or the liinistry of
Interior. Yet, in order to avoid having any neasures taken ageinst
Buerckel, Radenacher refused to give a copy of the French note of

pfotest to the lfinistry of Interior (Ibid, page 54).

On the 25th of November 1940 Luther informed Stuelpnagel of
the decision of the Reich Foreign ilinister, which was known to
WZIZS..ECKER and initialcd by hin, that the deportees were not to be
re—admitted to the Reich under eny circunstances, and also thet the
operation was carried out with the approval of the Fuchrer, This
crabled Stuelpnag -1 to represent the natter to the French in the

appropriate manner (Ibid, page 56).
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On November 25, 1940, WOERILINN, as already nentioned, sug-

gested through 1‘4EIZS-.ECKER to Ribbentrop that he should not discuss

these deportations with Laval since it would be thec 'best policy to

regard these acts as a closed issue, (Pros;ixh, 3655, NG 4337,

Doc,Bk, 99B, p.20)
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